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1 subrnit ProposedFindings of Fact and Conclusionsof Law basedon the evidence

2 adrnittedat thetrial heldJuly 9-18, 2008.

3 FINDINGS OF FACT

4 A. Proposition 200

5 1. The Arizona Taxpayer and Citizen ProtectionAct "Proposition

6 200", a citizen’s initiative, was approvedby Arizona voters in the Novernber2, 2004

7 generalelection. Threesectionsof Proposition200relatedto voting arnendedA.R.S. §
8 16-152, 16-166and16-579.

9 2. As arnendedby Proposition200, A.R.S. § 16-166Frequiresthat

10 "[t]he County Recorder shall reject any application for registration that is not

11 accornpaniedby satisfactoiyevidenceof United Statescitizenship" "RegistrationID"

12 The statutedefines"satisfactoryevidenceof citizenship"as:

13
* The nurnber of the applicant’s driver license or nonoperating

14 identificationlicenseissuedafterOctober1, 1996 by the departrnentof
transportationor the equivalentgovernrnentalagencyof anotherstate

15 within the United States if the agencyindicates on the applicant’s
driver licenseor nonoperatingidentification licensethat the personhas

16 providedsatisfactoiyproofof UnitedStatescitizenship.

17 * A legible photocopy of the applicant’s birth certificate that verifies

18
citizenshipto the satisfactionofthe countyrecorder.

* A legible photocopyof pertinentpagesof the applicant’sUnited States
19 passportidentifying the applicantandthe applicant’s passportnurnber

or presentationto the county recorderof the applicant’sUnited States
20 passport.

21 * A presentationto the county recorderof the applicant’s United States
naturalization docurnents or the nurnber of the certificate of

22 naturalization.If only the nurnberof the certificateof naturalizationis
provided, the applicant shall not be included in the registrationrolls

23 until the nurnberof the certificateof naturalizationis verified with the
United States irnrnigration and naturalizationservice by the county

24 recorder.

25 * Other docurnentsor rnethodsof proof that are establishedpursuantto
theirnrnigrationreforrn andcontrol act of 1986.

26
* The applicant’s bureauof Indian affairs card nurnber,tribal treatycard

27 nurnberor tribal enrollrnentnurnber.

28 A.R.S. § 16-166F.
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1 4. The Registration ID requirernent was pre-cleared by the

2 DepartrnentofJusticeandtook effecton Januaiy25, 2005. [Trial Tr. at 648:3-7]

3 5. A.R.S. § 16-579A, as arnendedby Proposition 200, requires

4 votersvoting at a polling place on election day to "presentone forrn of identification

5 that bears the narne, addressand photographof the elector or two different forrns of

6 identificationthatbearthe narneandaddressofthe elector""Polling ID".

7 6. Anyonewho registeredto vote in Arizona beforeJanuaiy25, 2005

8 neednot provide RegistrationID unlesshe or she is re-registeringin anotherArizona

9 county. A.R.S. § 16-166G. All new applicantsfor voter registrationrnust provide

10 RegistrationID. A.R.S. § 16-166F. Thereareno provisionsthatperrnit waiver of the

11 RegistrationID requirernentfor anyreason.

12 7. The Secretaryof State has prornulgateda "Procedurefor Proof of

13 Identification at the Polls" the "Polling PlaceProcedures". [See Ex. 4] The Polling

14 PlaceProcedureswere initially preclearedby the Departrnentof Justiceandtook effect

15 on Septernber6, 2005. The Polling Place Procedureswere arnendedin 2008, and

16 preclearedby the Departrnentof Justice on May 22, 2008. [See Trial Tr. at 680:18-

17 681:7]

18 8. The Polling Place Procedureslist the acceptableforrns of Polling

19 ID. Pursuantto the Procedures,a voter will be provided a regularballot if he presents

20 one of the following bearinghis photograph,narne and currentaddress: a a valid

21 Arizonadriver licenseb a valid Arizonanonoperatingidentification license,c atribal

22 enrollrnent card or other forrn of tribal identification or a valid United Statesfederal,

23 stateor local governrnentissuedidentification. [See Ex. 4, at 128]

24 9. Underthe Procedures,avoterwho presentstwo formsof non-photo

25 identificationthat bearhis narneandaddresswill receivea regularballot. Acceptable

26 forrns of non-photoidentification are: a a utility bill for electric, gas, water, solid

27 waste,sewer, telephone,cellular phone, or cable televisionthat is datedwithin ninety

28 daysof the dateof theelection, b a bank or credit union staternentthat is datedwithin
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1 ninety daysof the date of the election, c a valid Arizona Vehicle Registration,d an

2 Indian censuscard, e a property tax staternentof the voter’s residence,0 a tribal

3 enrollrnentcardor other forrn of tribal identification,g aRecorder’sCertificateor h a

4 valid United Statesfederal, state,or local governmentissuedidentification, including a

5 voterregistrationcard issuedby the countyrecorder. [Id.]

6 10. The Proceduresperrnit countiesto add other forrns of Polling ID

7 that"establishtheidentityof the electorin accordancewith the requirernentsof A.R.S. §
8 16-579A." [Id.] Sorne,but not all, Arizona countieshave added"official election

9 rnail" sentby the County, addressedto individual voters, to the list of acceptablenon-

10 photo identification. [Trial Tr. at 748:16-749:5;Ex. 530*]’

11 11. The Polling ID requirernentsdo not apply to voterswho vote by

12 rnail or at early voting sites. [See Trial Tr. at 689:2-6] An electorwho is droppingoff

13 his or her early ballot at a precinctvoting location is not requiredto show Polling ID.

14 [SeeEx. 4, at 133]

15 12. A voter seekingto cast aballot at his polling placeon electionday

16 cannotobtainawaiver of thePolling ID requirernentfor anyreason. [See Id.]

17 13. Under the Polling Place Procedures, a voter’s ballot can be

18 processedone of the threeways dependingupon the forrn of the elector’sPolling ID.

19 [See Id. at 129-31, 135-36] The Polling Place Procedures include a separate

20 "IdentificationRequirernentfor NativeArnericanElectors." [Id. at 135]

21 B. Proposition200 Has DisenfranchisedArizona Voters.

22 14. Arizona electionsofficials believe that there are U.S. citizens in

23 Arizonawho areeligible to registerto vote, but havebeenunableto do so becausethey

24 lack RegistrationID. [7/31/06 OsborneDep. at 43:12-43:17;JustrnanDep. at 30:14-

25 30:19; HansenDep. at 38:20-38:23;8/2/06 RodriguezDep. at 131:9-131:14; 1/14/08

26
1 The Court hastakenunderadvisementthe parties’ variousmotions for the admission

27 of certaintrial exhibits. Exhibits markedwith an asteriskhereinare thoseon which the Court
hasnot yet ruled.

28
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1 OsborneDep. at 95:17-96:16;Mann Dep. at 74:24-75:22; Wayrnan-Trujillo Dep. at

2 66: 10-68:13]

3 15. Frorn January2005 throughthe Fall of 2007, 14 of Arizona’s 15

4 counties rejected approxirnately38,000 voter registration applications frorn at least

5 31,550 individuals for failure to provide RegistrationID, as definedby A.R.S. § 16-

6 166F. [Trial Tr. at 243:3-5; seeEx. 883, Table 1] Those 31,550voter registration

7 applicationswere subrnittedby individuals who attestedunderpenalty of peijury that

8 theyarecitizensof theUnitedStates. [See, e.g, Ex. 1357]

9 16. FrornJuly 1, 2006 to June30, 2007, CoconinoCountyrejected260

10 voterregistrationforrns becausethey were subrnittedwithout "satisfactoryevidenceof

11 citizenship." [Ex. 1193] Of those 260 rejected registrants, only 59 later provided

12 "satisfactoryevidenceof citizenship." [Id.] As such,201 registrantswere not addedto

13 thevoterregistrationrolls. [Id.] This 77 percentfailure rate is substantiallyhigher than

14 the 61.2 percent registrationfailure rate that Coconino County experiencedbetween

15 Januaiy24, 2005 and June 30, 2006. [See HansenDep. Ex. 5 rejectedregistration

16 forrns frorn individuals who later successfullyregistered,Ex. 6 rejectedregistration

17 forrns frorn individualswho did not later successfullyregister]

18 17. During the Novernber 7, 2006 general election, the County

19 Defendantswere orderedto "track the nurnberof prospectivevoters that do not have

20 appropriateidentification and chooseto leave the polling location rather than cast a

21 conditionalprovisional ballot." [Doc. 241] At least2,548 voters exited polling places

22 without castingany type of ballot at all after being askedto presentPolling Place ID.

23 [Ex. 117273*]

24 18. According to Defendants,frorn 2006, whenArizona irnplernented

25 its Polling Place ID procedure,throughelectionsin the Spring of 2007, at least4,243

26 conditional provisional ballots have been cast, but only 1,532 of those conditional

27 provisionalballots were counted. [Ex. 1174-87,No. 3f, excluding Mohave,Pirnaand

28 Pinal Counties,which did not provide the nurnberof uncountedconditionalprovisional
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1 ballots in response to the ITCA Plaintiffs’ Interrogatory No. 31] Based on

2 Defendants’discoveiyresponses,rnore than 63 percentof voterswho castconditional

3 provisionalballots in thesetwelve countiesdid not return to provide Polling Place ID.

4 LId.] Whenorderedto producetheiruncountedconditional provisionalballot envelopes,

5 however,the countiesprovided4,194uncountedballots - 1,483 moreuncountedballots

6 thanthey reportedto theITCA Plaintiffs. [Trial Tr. at 249:24-25]

7 19. The Polling Place ID procedures are confusing for elections

8 officials andpoll workers. [7/31/06 OsborneDep. at 80:23-81:17; HansenDep. at 86:3-

9 86:9; Ex. 1122*, ¶J 8-11; compareHoyos Dep. 22:21-23:17Pinal County does not

10 accept out-of-state driver’s licenses ii’ith Wayrnan-Trujillo Dep.127:19-128:12

11 Yavapai County acceptsout-of-state driver’s licenses] This confusion has led to

12 voterswith sufficient Polling Place ID to obtain a regularballot or regularprovisional

13 ballot to be given a conditionalprovisionalballot or be deniedaballot altogether. [Ex.

14 967-68] One of the rnost cornrnon problerns was poll workers giving a voter a

15 conditionalprovisionalballot, or no ballot at all, eventhoughthevoterpresenteda valid

16 Arizonadriver’s license,thatonly lackedthevoter’s currentaddress. hId.]

17 C. Thousandsof Arizonans Lack "Satisfactory Evidenceof Citizenship."

18 20. A person cannot obtain "satisfactory evidence of citizenship"

19 without paying a fee of at least $10. [Doc. 219, at 9] The fees for "satisfactory

20 evidence of citizenship" can be as high as $220 for a replacernentCertificate of

21 Naturalization. [SeeEx. 1146*]

22 21. Frorn July 1, 2004 to July 1, 2007, Arizona’s populationincreased

23 by rnore than 650,000people: frorn 5,845,250to 6,500,194 - rnore than 11 percent.

24 [Ex. 1216] Frorn Januaiy 1, 2005 until March 1, 2008, however, voter registration

25 declined. Indeed,on Januaiy1, 2005, 2,706,223individuals were registeredto vote in

26 Arizona, but asof March 1, 2008, only 2,694,974individuals are registeredto vote - a

27 decreaseof rnore than11,000voters. [SeeEx. 1217]

28
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1 22. Approxirnately 12.6 percentof Arizonansregisteredto vote do not

2 possessan Arizona driver’s licenseor non-operatingidentification license. [Ex. 678*]

3 As of August 3, 2006, 12.12 percent of Arizona driver’s licensesand non-operating

4 identification licenseswere issuedbefore October1996, and as suchdo not constitute

S RegistrationID. [Ex. 575*] Assurning that individuals eligible to registerto vote but

6 not registeredpossessdriver’s licensesor non-operatingIDs at the sarnerate as those

7 alreadyregistered,approxirnately23.19percentof eligible, but unregisteredindividuals

8 cannotuse an Arizona driver’s license or non-operatingID to registerto vote, either

9 becausethey did not possessa licenseor held one issuedbeforeOctober1, 1996. [See

10 Ex. 575*, 678*]

11 23. Many Native Arnericansover age 40 were not born in hospitalsand

12 do not have birth certificates,nor can they obtain a delayedbirth certificatebecause

13 thoseadults in attendanceat their births are deceased.[Trial Tr. at 472:9-21, 474:7-15;

14 see also HansenDep. at 23:1-23:18; 8/2/06 Rodriguez Dep. at 41:21-41:24,90:12-

15 90:14] Assurning the age distribution of Native Arnericans is substantiallysirnilar to

16 thatof the overall populationin Arizona, 42.7 percent,or 99,641Native Arnericansare

17 overage4o. [Ex. 1198,at48]

18 24. Bureauof Indian Affairs cards,with or without nurnbersare not in

19 usein Arizona. [Trial Tr. at 474:19-475:2]

20 25. Only the Navajo Nation and four ApacheTribes in Arizona have

21 forrnal treatieswith the United States. Even so, Tribal Treaty cards,with or without

22 nurnbers,arenot in usein Arizona. [Trial Tr. at 475:6-11;Ex. 1340, at 4]

23 26. Sorne Arizona Native Arnerican Tribes - including the Navajo

24 Nation andthe HavasupaiTribe - do not issue Tribal identification cardsor enrollrnent

25 cards. [Ex. 1325, at 15-18, Ex. 1340, at 4; seealso 8/30/06Hr’g Tr. at 112:21-113:9

26 SupaiTribe doesnot issueidentification] At leastthreeArizonatribeschargea fee for

27 updated,replacernentor initial tribal enrollrnent or identification cards. [Ex. 1325, at

28 15-18]
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1 27. The distanceto Arizona MVD offices, thelirnited openinghoursof

2 such offices, the expense and required docurnentationrnake it veiy difficult or

3 irnpossible for Native Arnericans residing on reservationsto obtain Arizona driver’s

4 licensesor non-operatingidentification licenses. [See Trial Tr. at 456:9-458:8; Ex.

5 1138]

6 28. For sorne, RegistrationID is irnpossible to obtain. Shirley Preiss

7 wasbornin Kentuckyin 1910 andnot issuedabirth certificate. [Trial Tr. at 82:13-83:6]

8 She hasatternptedto obtain a delayed birth certificate,but hasbeenunsuccessful.[Id.

9 at 83:20-24] She doesnot possessany other forms of RegistrationID andhas been

10 unableto registerto vote in Arizona. [Id. at 87:21-24]

11 29. Irnplernentation of the Registration ID requirernent has led

12 organizationsthat conductvoter registrationactivities to reduceor stop suchactivities

13 altogether. [8/30/06 Hr’g Tr. at 121:10-124:9;see also Mann Dep. at 12:13-12:21;

14 Dean-Lytle Dep. at 22:8-22:17] Thosethat continueto work to registervoters rnust

15 devote double or triple the resourcesthey would have needed to expend before

16 Proposition200 to registerthe sarnenurnberof voters. [Trial Tr. at 586: 16-587:11;Ex.

17 1223]

18 30. Many people are reluctantto provide the inforrnation containedin

19 "satisfactoryevidenceof citizenship" docurnentsto thoseconductingvoter registration

20 activities, even county ernployees. [Mann Dep. at 32:17-32:25;8/30/06 Hr’g Tr. at

21 123:4-123:11]

22 D. Alternatives to Purchasing Polling ID Are Insufficient to Protect all
Voters.

23
31. Electionsofficials have expressedconcernthat sorne segrnentsof

24
the cornrnunity rnay not possessPolling ID. [7/25/06 Kanefield Dep. at 27:12-28:5;

25
Wayrnan-TrujilloDep.at 106: 12-106:16]

26
32. Under A.R.S. § 16-579, governrnent-issuedphoto identification

27
rnust contain avoter’s currentnarneandaddressto perrnit that personto vote a regular

28
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1 ballot at the polls on electionday. Arizona law doesnot requirean individual to obtain

2 a new driver’s license or non-operatingidentification license with updated address

3 inforrnation when that individual rnoves. [See Ex. 1136] Once issued, an Arizona

4 driver’s licenseis valid until thedriver’s 65thbirthday. A.R.S. § 28-3171A1.

5 33. Excluding "Official ElectionMail" addressedto an individual voter

6 and sorneforrns of identification issuedby sorneNative Arnericantribal governrnents,

7 Polling PlaceID cannotbe obtainedwithout payrnentof a fee for the identification itself

8 or for aservicesuchasa bankaccountor utility service. [SeeEx. 4, at 128]

9 34. Arizonacountiesarenot requiredby law to send"Official Election

10 Mail" individually addressedto any registeredvoter. [See 7/31/06 Osborne Dep. at

11 62:4-63:8,63:25-64:10;HansenDep. at 57:5-57:17; ITCA Ex. 18; 7/25/06 Kanefield

12 Dep. at 139:1-3; Dastrup Dep. at 21:23-21:25;Pew Dep. at 22:20-23:18] Not all

13 Arizona countiessend official election rnail, addressedto all individual voters, which

14 voters rnay use as Polling Place ID. [See, e.g., Trial Tr. at 748:22-749:5; ; Stallworth

15 Dep.at 32:15-32:25;Ex. 4, at 128 listing forrns of Polling PlaceID; Ex. 530* lirniting

16 Polling PlaceID to "thosespecificallynotedin the Manuel [sic]", Ex. 1118-19]

17 35. Indeed,rnostArizonacountiesdo not sendOfficial ElectionMail to

18 "inactive" registeredvoters. [See 7/31/06OsborneDep.at 59:21-60:18;HansenDep. at

19 50:2-50:4,57:2-57:9; 8/30/06Hr’g Tr. at 111:12-111:20]

20 36. Even if a county sent official election rnail or voter registration

21 cards that suchcounty acceptedas polling place identification in the 2006 prirnary or

22 generalelection, the recorddoesnot establishthat any county will send such iterns to

23 voters or acceptthern aspolling place identification for future elections. [Cf Ex. 4, at

24 128 official electionrnail not listed asPolling PlaceID; Stallworth Dep. at 33:6-33:9]

25 37. Indeed, Maricopa County, will not send Official Election Mail

26 addressedto individual voters for elections in 2008. [Ex. 1218; see also 1/14/08

27 OsborneDep. at 83:20-84:11,86:1-86:4 discussingcost of sending sarnpleballots to

28 individual voters and potential for not doing so in 2008 to rneet County-rnandated
-9-



1 budgetreduction; Wayrnan-Trujillo Dep. at 108:16-109:10Yavapai County rnay not

2 send official election rnail in 2008, and did not do so for the February 5, 2008

3 PresidentialPreferenceElection] Accordingly, rnore than 56 percent of the active

4 voters in Arizona will not receivethis forrn of free identification to useat the polls on

5 electionday. [SeeITCA Ex. 1217 listing nurnberof registeredvotersby county]

6 38. Even if Arizona counties issue "Official Election Mail" to

7 individual voters, they are not required by law to accept"Official Election Mail" as

8 Polling Place ID, and sorne Arizona countiesdo not. [See Trial Tr. at 748:22-749:5;

9 DastrupDep.at22:1-22:12;PewDep.at23:10-23:18;Ex. 4, at 128; Ex. 530*]

10 39. A Recorder’sCertificate is only availableto a voter whosenarne

11 doesnot appearon the precinctregisterdue to the Recorder’serror. [7/31/06 Osborne

12 Dep. at 56:3-58:14;8/2/06 RodriguezDep. at 41:25-45:8;Hoyos Dep. at 29:24-30:22]

13 At least one County Recorderdid not know when she should issue a Recorder’s

14 Certificate. [Dean-LytleDep. at 85:18-86:2]

15 40. In-personearly voting is one rnethodby which Arizona registered

16 voters can vote. See A.R.S. § 16-541A. Proceduresfor in-person early voting are

17 exactly the sarneas in-personvoting on electionday, exceptthat votersneednot present

18 Polling PlaceID to vote early. [Doc. 219, at 3-4] However,countiesdo not provideas

19 rnanyearly voting sites as electionday polling places. [Mann Dep. at 112:14-112:20;

20 8/30/06 Hr’g Tr. at 106:10-106:12,109:5-109:8;Hoyos Dep. at 82:3-82:12;Wayrnan

21 Trujillo Dep. at 137:10-138:16] In Yurna County, for exarnple, which covers

22 5,519squarerniles, in-personearly voting is only conductedat the County Recorder’s

23 office in theCity of Yurna. [Mann Dep.at 112:14-112:20]

24 41. Pursuantto sections4f4 and 203 of the Voting Rights Act,

25 Arizona counties rnust provide languageassistanceto voters. See 42 U.S.C. §
26 1973bf, 1973aa-la; 28 C.F.R. Part 55, App. Language assistanceis not always

27 availableto early voters. [See 8/30/06Hr’g Tn. at 107:25-108:9;Hoyos Dep. at 74:15-

28 75:9]
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1 42. Counties provide fan fewer sites for post-election day ID

2 verification thanpolling places. [SeeWayrnan-TrujilloDep. at 97:18-99:13] In Yurna

3 County, for exarnple,which covers5,519squarerniles, a voter who cast a conditional

4 provisional ballot rnust go to the County Recorder’soffice in the City of Yurna to

S presentsufficient identificationon his ballot will not be counted. [Mann Dep.at 108:13-

6 108:20]

7 E. Plaintiffs HaveBeenHarmed by Proposition200.

8 43. The Arizona Advocacy Network AzAN is a not-for-profit

9 rnernbenshiporganizationwhose rnission includes leading efforts for electoraljustice

10 andincreasedcivic participation. [Trial Tn. at 58 1:18-20]

11 44. AzAN contractswith USAction EducationFundto conductvoter

12 registration,andis cornpensatedbasedon thenurnbenof successfulvoterregistrationsit

13 subrnits. [Id. at 584:18-24] AzAN will only be cornpensatedfor confinrned

14 registrations,requiringthat it keeprecordsof all newly registeredvoters. hjd. at 586:13-

15 15]

16 45. In 2008, AzAN’s goal is to register5,000 low-incornevoters, and

17 follow up with thernto rnakesuretheysucceedin voting. [Id. at 585:21-22]

18 46. To register voters, AzAN staff and/on volunteersrnust convince

19 strangersto provide thernwith a greatdeal of personalinfonrnation. In a statethat leads

20 the nation in identity theft, rnany people are reluctantto give out suchinfonrnation to

21 sorneonethey do not know. [Mann Dep. at 32:17-32:25; 8/30/06 Hn’g Tn. at 123:4-

22 123:11] The increaseddernandsfor infonrnation asa result of Proposition200 rnake it

23 rnone difficult for AzAN to registervoters. [Trial Tn. at 586:1-6] Although they rnay

24 chooseto cornpletethe voterregistrationfonrn and rnail it in on their own, AzAN will

25 notreceivecredit for that registration. [Id. at 586:13-15]

26 47. In 2006,AzAN atternptedto assistEva Steelein registeringto vote.

27 [Id. at 583:18-21] Ms. Steele, a native-borncitizen of the United States,lived in an

28 assistedliving facility in Mesa, Arizona. [Id.] Ms. Steele did not have accessto
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1 RegistrationID andthereforewas unableto registerto vote. [Id.] Thoughshe is now

2 registeredto vote, Ms. Steele was only able to register when the Registration ID

3 nequinernentwas not in effect betweenOctober5 andOctober20, 2006. LId. at 583:22-

4 594:5]

5 48. AzAN staffhave rnetwith Shirley Preiss,a 97-year-oldnative-born

6 citizen of the United States. [Id. at 584:6-13] Ms. Preisswishesto registerto vote in

7 Arizona, where she now lives with hen son, but does not possessand cannot obtain

8 "satisfactoryevidenceof citizenship." [Id. at 84:2-3, 87:7-24] Due to the Proposition

9 200 ID Requinernents,AzAN hasnot beenableto assistMs. Preissin registeringto vote.

10 [Id. at 584:9-13]

11 49. Due to the RegistrationID nequinernent,AzAN will needto contact

12 approxirnatelytwo to three tirnes as rnany eligible registrants for each successful

13 registrationthanwill be necessaiyin otherstatesthat haveno suchnequinernent. [Id. at

14 586:18-25] This will cost AzAN $11,000 to $22,000 rnone than it would cost an

15 organizationregisteringvoters in other states. [Id. at 587:9-11;Ex. 1223]

16 50. During the 2006 elections, the first in which the Polling ID

17 nequinernentwas in effect, AzAN engagedin the following activities that it had not

18 undertakenbeforethe law’s irnplernentation:a educatingvotersaboutthe newPolling

19 ID nequinernentat 20 public forurns,b training volunteersso that theyunderstoodwhat

20 constitutedacceptablePolling ID, andhow voterswere to be treatedif theywere barred

21 frorn voting regularballots due to the Polling ID nequinernent,c distributed"Voter’s

22 Bill of Rights" leaflets listing voters’ nights under the law and what constituted

23 acceptablePolling ID, d deploying volunteers to polling places to survey voters

24 corningout of the polls aboutwhethertheyhadhaddifficulties voting due to thePolling

25 ID nequinernents,ande assistingvotersto rnake suretheywere able to votewhen they

26 were wrongly turnedaway frorn the polls. [Trial Tn. at 587:19-588:3, 588:19-589:17;

27 Ex. 1223]

28
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1 51. Becauseof the nurnbenof problernsvotersencounteredat the polls

2 in 2006, AzAN staffhasdetenrninedthat it will benecessaiyto drarnaticallyincreasethe

3 nurnbenof volunteersit trains and deploys in future elections in order to ensurethat

4 rnone voters are not erroneouslyturned away frorn the polls as a result of Proposition

5 200. [Trial Tn. at 594:19-595:6;Ex. 1223]

6 52. AzAN incurredcostsin 2006 that it wouldnot haveincurredabsent

7 Proposition200. AzAN incurredan additional$19,025in 2006 to recruit, train, deploy

8 and supervisevolunteers,print "Voters Bill of Rights" handoutsandtravel to polling

9 placeson electiondays. [Ex. 1223]

10 53. For the 2008 elections,AzAN hasthe goal of recruiting, training

11 anddeploying five hundredvolunteersat aprojectedcostof $40,440.00. [Id.] None of

12 the costs associatedwith this staff and volunteereffort would be necessaiybut for the

13 irnplernentationof Proposition200. LId. at 601:1-3]

14 54. The League of Wornen Voters of Arizona "LWV" is a

15 nonpartisan, non-profit political rnernbenship organization dedicated to irnpnoving

16 systernsof governrnent, increasingvoter participation and irnpacting public policies

17 through citizen educationand advocacy. By preventingeligible individuals who lack

18 voting identification frorn voting, Proposition200 harms LWV’s ability to increase

19 voterparticipation. [8/30/06 Hn’g Tn. at 116:6-116:20]

20 55. Beforethe irnplernentationofProposition200’sproofof citizenship

21 nequinernent,LWV devotedsubstantialtirne andresourcesto registeringeligible voters.

22 Specifically, LWV conductedvoter registration drives by setting up tables at fairs,

23 school parents’ nights and other cornrnunityevents. In the past, LWV has also gone

24 door-to-doorregisteringvoters. At suchvoter registrationevents,LWV would provide

25 voter registration fonrns to be filled out, then deliver thern to the county recorder.

26 [8/30/06Hn’g Tn. at 119: 1-121:9]

27 56. LWV has lirnited resourcesavailable to register voters. It is

28 irnpossiblefor LWV to setup photocopyingequiprnentat its voterregistrationeventsto
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1 rneetArizona’s proofof citizenshipnequinernent.Moreover, thecostof equippingLWV

2 ernployeesand volunteerswith rnobile scannerson photocopyingrnachinesto create

3 copies of registrants’ RegistrationID for thosewho lack a driven’s on non-operator’s

4 license issued after October 1, 1996, alien registration nurnben on tribal enrollrnent

S nurnbenis prohibitively expensive,and would precludeLWV frorn registeringvoters.

6 LWV doesnot havethe financial resourcesto purchasesuchequiprnent. Evenif LWV

7 had sufficient financial resourcesto purchasernobile photocopyingequiprnent,such

8 purchaseswould requireLWV to divert financialresourcesfrorn currentvotereducation

9 andregistrationactivities. [8/30/06Hn’g Tn. at 122:1-123:3]

10 57. BecauseLWV lacks the ability to copy docurnentsthat serve as

11 RegistrationunderProposition200, it has ceasedits voter registrationdrives, exceptto

12 distribute registrationfonrns. As such, LWV is unableto ensurethat any registration

13 forrns it distributesarebeing deliveredto the countyrecorders. Before Propostion200

14 took effect, LWV registeredat least300 voters a year. It now can confinrn no voter

15 registrations.Consequently,LWV’s efforts to registervotersareharrnedby Proposition

16 200. [8/30/06 Hn’g Tn. at 121:10-121:25]

17 58. The purposeof the Inter Tribal Council of Arizona, Inc. "ITCA"

18 is to provide its MernbenTribes with the rneansto takeactionon rnattensthataffect thern

19 collectively and individually, to prornote tribal sovereignty,and to strengthentribal

20 governrnents. Supporting tribal governrnentsin their efforts to prornote voter

21 participationarnongtheir individual rnernbensis an integral partof this purpose. As of

22 2003, there were approxirnately 112,790 individual rnernbensof the ITCA Mernben

23 Tribes in Arizona. [Ex. 1311, at 3; Ex. 1340, at 3]

24 59. Voter educationandoutreachfor MernbenTribes of ITCA is central

25 to ITCA’s rnission. In light of the bundensorneand cornplicatednequinernentsof the

26 voter identification provisions of Proposition 200, ITCA has intensified its voter

27 outreachandeducationefforts at additional costto ITCA. Theseefforts haveincluded,

28 but are not lirnited to, printing a specialvoter inforrnation parnphlet,attendingvarious
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1 rneetingsat ReservationsthroughoutArizona to educateMernbenTribes, and devoting

2 additional ITCA rneetingtirne andresourcesto suchefforts. In 2006, ITCA expended

3 287 hours in staff tirne and $30,783 for voter education and outreachrelated to

4 Proposition200. [Ex. 1340, at 6 andattachments]

5 60. ITCA is not awareof the existenceof the "bureauof Indian affairs

6 card nurnben" on "tribal treaty card nurnben" referencedin A.R.S. § 16-166F6.

7 Moreover,certainITCA MernbenTribes do not provide their rnernbenswith "enrollrnent

8 nurnbens." A.R.S. § 16-166F6. Furthermore,sorneof ITCA’s MernbenTribes do not

9 provideTribal enrollrnenton identificationcardsat all. Many MernbenTribes also lack

10 on have lirnited financial resourcesto keep ennollrnent/tribalidentification cardscurrent

11 for their tribal rnernbens. [Ex. 1340, at 4]

12 61. Sorne ITCA Mernben Tribes have atternptedto changeon update

13 their enrollrnent on tribal identification cards in an effort to rneet the RegistrationID

14 nequinernents. Such efforts requireduse of funds frorn already lirnited tribal budgets.

15 [Id. at4]

16 62. Plaintiff SteveGallandois a rnernbenof both the Arizona Houseof

17 Representativesandthe PhoenixUnion High SchoolDistrict GoverningBoard. Before

18 he becarnean electedofficial, he worked for 14 years in the Office of the Maricopa

19 County Recorderin avariety of roles including the conductof voterregistration. As an

20 electedofficial, he has personalexperiencein carnpaigningfor election, supervising

21 paid and volunteer carnpaignstaff and constituent service and outreach. [Defs’ Ex.

22 1313,at6-7]

23 63. Plaintiff Rep. Steve Gallando’s strongestsupporters and likely

24 supportersalso are concentratedin neighborhoodsin which rnernbensof racial and

25 ethnic rninority groupsrnakeup thepredorninantshareof the eligible voters. [Id. at 5-6]

26 64. Relativeto cornrnunitiesin which white, non-Hispanicresidentsare

27 in the rnajority, his supporters and likely supporters in such heavily-rninority

28 cornrnunities are a less likely to possess the voting identification required by
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1 Proposition200, b less likely to possessa birth certificate and/on other proof of

2 citizenship requiredby the voter registrationnequinernentsof Proposition200, c less

3 likely to haveaccessto rnotonvehicleson otherrneansof transportationthatwould assist

4 thernin obtainingdocurnentationto satisfythe nequinernentsof Proposition200; andd

S less likely to have accessto telephones,the Internet and other rnass cornrnunication

6 resourcesthatwould assistthernin rneetingthe nequinernentsof Proposition200. LId.]

7 65. For thesereasons,candidateswhose supportersare predorninantly

8 residents of affluent cornrnunities and/on predorninantly white, non-Hispanic

9 neighborhoodswill be placedat an advantagerelative to Rep. Gallandobecausetheir

10 supporterswill be rnone likely thanhis to have their votes countednotwithstandingthe

11 nequinernentsof Proposition 200. LId.] In order to nernain cornpetitive with such

12 candidates,Rep. Gallando will be forced to divert a disproportionateshare of his

13 resourcestoward voter educationandother efforts to ensurethathis supportersarenot

14 frustratedby thenequinernentsof Proposition200. LId.] This is of particularconcernfor

15 Rep. Gallando’s2008 reelectionto thePhoenixUnion High SchoolDistrict, in which he

16 plansto seekoneof thetwo at-langeseats. [Id.]

17 66. Rep. Gallandois harmedby the voting identificationnequinernentof

18 Proposition200 due to: a his needto expendadditionaleffort in educatinghis potential

19 supportersandcarnpaignworkersas to how to satisfy the RegistrationandPolling ID

20 nequinernentsbefore elections,b his needto expendadditional effort in rnobilizing his

21 supportersthat is, "get out the vote" activities during elections,c the likelihood that

22 despitehis best efforts, sorne of his potential supporterswho are eligible to vote will

23 have their registrationapplicationsrejectedbecausethey lack RegistrationID, d the

24 likelihoodthat despitehis bestefforts, sorneof his supporterswill not atternptto register

25 on vote at all due to their lack of Registrationon Polling ID, on their beliefthat theywill

26 be preventedfrorn voting by the identification nequinernents,e the likelihood that

27 despitehis best efforts, sorne of his supporterswill be required to cast conditional

28 provisionalballots that will not be countedbecausethe voters lack Polling ID, 1 the
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1 likelihood that despite his best efforts, sorne of his supporterswill not have their

2 conditional provisional ballots counted because they are unable to visit an ID

3 verificationsite in personafterthe electionin orderto presenttheir identification,g the

4 likelihood that poll workers will provide rnistakenand incorrect infonrnation to his

S potential supportersthat will leadto their ballots not being counted, and the needto

6 expendadditional resourcesto train poll watchersto ensurethat poll workerscorrectly

7 apply the identificationnequinernents,and h the disadvantagethat Rep. Gallandowill

8 suffer relative to other candidateswhose supporters are better able to satisfy the

9 RegistrationandPolling ID nequinernentsof Proposition200. [Id. at 3-5]

10 67. It is centralto thernissionof theHopi ElectionOffice, anagencyof

11 theHopi Tribal governrnent,to encouragetribal rnernbensto becorneactive participants

12 in state and federal elections and thereby in the United States dernocracy,which

13 includesregisteringcitizensto vote. [Ex. 13 12, at 3]2

14 68. There are approxirnately12,512 Hopi tribal rnernbens. Of those

15 enrolledrnernbens,approxirnately9,235 are oven 18 yearsof age. Thereare substantial

16 nurnbensof Hopi individuals who lack a Hopi enrollrnentcard andthusdo not have an

17 enrollrnentnurnbento provide as RegistrationID. Theseindividuals, who lack even a

18 forrn of tribal ID, usually also lack other fonrns of RegistrationID, such as passports,

19 driven’s licenseson nonopenatingidentification licenses. As of July 2006, therewere

20 4,348Hopi individualswho hadnot receiveda Hopi enrollrnentcard. [Id. at 5]

21 69. The Hopi Tribal Registrarhas engagedin voter registrationdrives

22 since the effective date of Proposition200, but has beenunableto registervoters in

23 nearlythe sarnenurnbensas shehadbeforeProposition200 went into effect. [Id. at 4]

24 70. The Hopi Tribe hasdiscussedwith Navajo Countytheplacernentof

25 a new, additional precincton a rathernernotepart of the reservationan areain which

26

27 2 Ex. 1312 and 1316, InterrogatoryResponsesof the Hopi Tribe and LULAC, were
markedfor trial by Defendantsbut their admissionhasnot beenmoved.

28
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1 certainHopi votershaveto walk six rnilesto cast their votes. Hopi was infonrnedby

2 Navajo County that new precinctsare detenrninedbasedon the nurnbenof voterswho

3 turn out to vote. Becausethe RegistrationID nequinernenthascausedadecreasein Hopi

4 voterturnout, Hopi hasbeenunsuccessfulin obtainingthis additionalprecinct. [Id.]

5 71. The Leagueof United Latin Arnerican Citizens "LULAC" is a

6 rnernbenshiporganizationdedicatedto advancingthe econornic condition, educational

7 attainment,political influence,healthandcivil nights of the Hispanic populationof the

8 United States. A key cornponentof LULAC’s rnission is to ernpowenthe Latino

9 cornrnunityby rneansof civic engagernentthroughvoter registrationandparticipation.

10 By preventing eligible individuals who lack Registrationon Polling ID frorn voting,

11 Proposition200 hanrns LULAC’s ability to increasevoter participation. [Defs’ Ex.

12 1316,at3]

13 72. Specifically, the cornrnunitythat LULAC servesis veiy rnobile and

14 includesrnanypeoplewho changeresidencesoften. Often, theseindividualsuse a P.O.

15 box andcannotreadily obtainvoting identificationwith their currentresidenceaddress.

16 In addition, rnany rnernbensof the cornrnunity that LULAC serveslive in apartrnents

17 thatprovideutility serviceanddo not receiveutility bills. Moreover,rnanyof the olden

18 rnernbensof the cornrnunity that LULAC serveslive with their children on in nursing

19 hornes on other assistedliving facilities. Consequently,the cornrnunity that LULAC

20 servesincludesrnanypeoplewho are lesslikely thanothersto possessPolling ID. [Id.]

21 73. Beforethe irnplernentationofProposition200’sproofof citizenship

22 nequinernent,LULAC devoted substantialtirne and resourcesto registering eligible

23 voters. Specifically, LULAC conducted three types of voter registration drives:

24 canvassinggoing door-to-door,event settingup tables at fairs and other cornrnunity

25 eventsandsite settingup tablesoutsidegrocerystones,etc.. At suchvoterregistration

26 events,LULAC wouldprovidevoterregistrationformsto be cornpleted,thendeliver the

27 cornpletedformsto thecounty recorder. LId. at 4]

28
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1 74. The cornrnunity that LULAC serves includes rnany naturalized

2 citizens,who seldorncany their certificatesof naturalizationwith thern. Furtherrnone,

3 becauseof fearsaboutidentity theft, rnanypeopledeclineto provideLULAC volunteers

4 with the docurnentson nurnbens that constitute"satisfactory evidence of citizenship"

S underProposition200, furtherharnperingLULAC’s voterregistrationefforts. [Id.]

6 75. Even if potentialregistrantshave RegistrationID with thernwhen

7 they corne into contact with a LULAC voter registration drive, it is irnpossible for

8 LULAC to set up photocopyingequiprnentat its voter registration events. Moreover,

9 the cost of equipping LULAC ernployees and volunteers with rnobile scannerson

10 photocopyingrnachinesto copy RegistrationID is prohibitively expensive,andwould

11 precludeLULAC frorn registeringvoters. LULAC doesnot havethe financialresources

12 to purchasesuch equiprnent. Even if LULAC had sufficient financial resourcesto

13 purchasernobile copying equiprnent,such purchaseswould requireLULAC to divert

14 financialresourcesfrorn othervoteroutreach,andregistrationactivities. [Id. at 4-5]

15 F. The Record is Devoid of Evidence of Fraudulent Registration or
Voting by Undocumented Immigrants - the Harm Proposition 200

16 Was Designedto Remedy.

17 76. Proposition200’s supporterscharnpionedthe initiative as a way to

18 stop illegal irnrnignation. [Ex. 1] Yet defendantshave disclosedno evidencethat any

19 illegal irnrnignanthasregisteredto vote on votedin Arizona.

20 77. The State Elections Director testifiedthat the Secretaryof State’s

21 electionfraud hotline hasreceivedno calls thathave resultedin prosecution. [Trial Tn.

22 at 745:4-7]

23 78. Court recordsoffered into evidenceby defendantsdo not establish

24 that the nine individuals prosecutedhave beenfound not to be United Statescitizens.

25 [See Ex. 1349ag*, 1349yz*] The factual basesfor the convictionsfor rnisderneanon

26 "Pnesentrnentof a False Instrurnent" on "Unsworn Falsification" do not appearin the

27 court records offered. hIId.] Moreover, all the changesof "Illegal Voting" have been

28 disrnissed. [Id.]
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1 79. A veiy srnall nurnbenof voterregistrationfonrns rejectedfor failure

2 to provide "satisfactoryevidence of citizenship" list a birthplace outside the United

3 States. [7/31/06 OsborneDep. at 22:11-22:24;Ex. 885, Table3] Indeed,rnost rejected

4 registrantswere born in U.S. - 86.6 percent of Hispanicsand 92.9 percentof non

S Hispanicswere reportedlyU.S.-born. [Ex. 885, Table3]

6 80. MaricopaCounty receivesnotification frorn the MaricopaCounty

7 SuperiorCourt July Cornrnissionenof personswho have indicatedon a juror affidavit

8 that they are not U.S. citizens. Yet sorne individuals who attest to the july

9 cornrnissionenthat they are not citizens, in fact, are United Statescitizens. [7/3 1/06

10 OsborneDep. at 91:4-91:9; 1/23/08AltahaDep. at 7:20-8:14]

11 81. Thereis no evidencethat anynon-citizenhas registered,atternpted

12 to registerto vote on votedin 12 ofArizona’s 15 counties. [ITCA Ex. 5-7, 9-14, 17, 24,

13 72, at No. 1; see also JustrnanDep. at 11:15-11:25; HansenDep. at 86:13-87:12;

14 JohnsonDep., at 11:10-12:9;1/11/08 Kanefield Dep. at 3 1:22-34:9; Dean-LytleDep. at

15 87:17-88:12,89:19-90:16;Wayrnan-TrujilloDep. at 29:15-29:17,34:5-34:13]

16 82. Yurna County had only one instancein which a non-citizenwas

17 allegedto haveregistered. [MannDep. at 98:1-00:25, 101:17-102:19] That individual

18 did not know that she had cornpleteda voter registrationfonrn. [Id.] Moreover, she

19 nevervoted, andrequestedthat henvoter registrationbe canceledwhen she learnedof

20 theerror. LId.]

21 83. MaricopaCounty ElectionsDirector KarenOsbornetestifiedabout

22 only two non-U.S.citizen, legal residentswho hadbeeninducedto registerto vote by

23 otherswho persuadedthern they were penrnittedto do so oven a ten-plus-yearperiod.

24 [7/31/06 OsborneDep. at 18:18-20:1, 94:17-95:1 calling registration "inadvertent";

25 1/23/08 OsborneDep. at 15:13-16:10,40:7-41:12]

26 84. County elections officials believe that the pre-Proposition200

27 nequinernentthat a registrantcheckabox stating that he on she is a U.S. citizen andsign

28 the voter registrationfonrn underpenalty of peijuny was sufficient to preventnon-U.S.
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1 citizens frorn registering to vote. [Dean-Lytle Dep. at 3 1:22-32:23;Wayrnan-Trujillo

2 Dep.at 28:2-30:9]

3 85. The recordcontainsno evidenceof fraudulentvoting at thepolls by

4 ineligible voters. Indeed, Arizona countieshave not reported a single instance of

S irnpostenvoting on electiondayon during in-personearlyvoting. [E.g., JustrnanDep. at

6 12:22-13:4;HansenDep. at 87:13-87:20; 1/14/08 OsborneDep. at 89:3-89:6; 8/30/06

7 Hn’g Tn. at 101:23-102:1; Dastrup Dep. at 29:5; Stallworth Dep., at 20:18-20:23;

8 1/23/08 OsborneDep. at 6:10-6:24,31:13-31:17;Hoyos Dep. at 40:3-41:1; Wayrnan

9 Trujillo Dep. at 128:13-128:15] Irnposten voting, however, has occurredby rnail-in

10 ballot. [1/14/08 OsborneDep.at 89:7-90:12; 1/23/08 OsborneDep.at 7: 1-7:22]

11 G. Proposition200 Does Not PreventRegistration by Non-Citizens or
Imposter Voting, but Alternatives to the Identification Requirements

12 of Proposition 200 Can Prevent Voter Fraud.

13 86. CountyRecordersdo not takeany stepsto verify theauthenticityof

14 birth certificates,photocopiesof passportpages,Bureauof IndianAffairs card nurnbens,

15 Tribal Treaty cardnurnbenson Tribal enrollrnentnurnbens. [1/14/08 OsborneDep. at

16 50: 10-51:25;Mann Dep. at 45:18-46:23;JohnsonDep. at 20:22-22:4;Dean-Lytle Dep.

17 at 49:21-51:19;Wayrnan-TrujilloDep.at 63:8-66:9]

18 87. The driven’s license rnatching process does not assure that

19 registrantsare United Statescitizens. The Arizona MVD does not verify citizenship.

20 [Yanofsky Dep. at 12:24-13:25] Instead,MVD detenrninesonly authorizedpresencein

21 Arizona. [Id.,atl3:10-13:13,57:8-57:15]

22 88. A non-citizenwith authorizedpresencein Arizona can possessa

23 regular"D" type Arizona driven’s license. [Id., at 35:10-35:16,37:8-37:19, 63:19-64:9]

24 If that individual’s alien registrationcardhadno expirationdate,he couldhavereceived

25 a regular, extendedlicensethat doesnot expireuntil his 65th birthday. [Id. at 21:18-

26 22:7]

27 89. Arizona issued driven’s licenses and non-driven identification

28 licensesbefore 1996 without verifying citizenshipon authorizedpresencein the United
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1 States. [Id. at 23:7-23:25] Such licensesincludedextendedlicensesthat do not expire

2 until the holder’s 65th birthday [See Gage Dep. at 62:2-62:7 MVD began issuing

3 extendedlicensesin 1993]

4 90. Even if MVD originally issued a licenseto an individual before

5 October 1, 1996, if the licenseholder replaceda lost license, on updatedhis photo on

6 addressand obtaineda duplicatelicenseafter October1, 1996, the "issue date" of the

7 licensewould be the datethat thenew licensewasprovided. [Yanofsky Dep.at 48:11-

8 49:10, 59:19-60:25] As such, it would serve as "satisfactoryevidenceof citizenship"

9 under Proposition 200. A.R.S. § 16-166F. This is so, even if the personnever

10 established"lawful presence"in theUnitedStates. [Yanofsky Dep.at 25:23-29:15]

11 91. An individual possessingan"F" type on "foreign" driven’s license

12 rnay be a United Statescitizen. [Mann Dep. at 71:19-72:4; Yanofsky Dep. at 63:23-

13 64:1]

14 92. Use of regularprovisional ballots, which are subjectto the sarne

15 signaturernatchingprocedureusedfor early andrnail-in ballots, is sufficient to guard

16 againstvoter fraud. [7/31/06 OsborneDep. at 50:24-52:9,75:7-76:15; JustrnanDep. at

17 35:10-35:23;HansenDep. at 70:11-70:14; 8/2/06RodriguezDep. at 75:17-77:9;Mann

18 Dep. at 109:1-109:9;7/25/06 Kanefield Dep. at 56: 14-56:20; DastrupDep., at 28:23-

19 29:1; Pew Dep., at 19:5-19:7; Hoyos Dep. at 42:21-44:20;Wayrnan-Trujillo Dep. at

20 113:6-113:16]

21 93. Arizona elections officials believe that penforrning signature

22 cornparisonsfor conditional provisional ballotswould not irnposea significant burden

23 on thern. [1/14/08 OsborneDep. at 76:23-77:16; Mann Dep. at 108:7-108:12;Hoyos

24 Dep.at 49:9-49:15; Wayrnan-TrujilloDep. at 124:22-126:1]

25 H. Hispanic and Native American Citizens Have Faced a History of
Discrimination in Arizona and Are LessLikely than White Citizens to

26 PossessDocuments that Meet Proposition 200’sID Requirements.

27 94. Official Discrirnination against Hispanic and Native Arnerican

28 citizens beganlong before Arizona statehoodand has continuedwell into the present
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1 day. [Trial Tn. at 354:2-25;448:10-450:7] Indeed,thedebateoventheboundariesof the

2 future statewas influencedby thedesireto rninirnize Hispanicpolitical influence. [Id. at

3 355:1-7]

4 95. Frorn 1909 until bannedby the Voting Rights Act Arnendrnentsof

5 1970, Arizona had a literacy test for voting. [Id. at 354:11-25] Arizona held English-

6 only electionsuntil the statebecarnecoveredby the languagerninority provisionsof the

7 Voting Rights Act. [Id.] In the 1960s, the RepublicanParty’s OperationEagle Eye

8 targetedLatinos and other rninorities in South Phoenixfor challengesat the polls on

9 electionday. [Id. at 355:15-17]

10 96. Another exarnple of official discrirnination against Latino and

11 Native Arnericans in Arizona is the 1988 arnendrnentto the Arizona Constitution

12 irnposedan English-onlynequinernentfor the State andits political subdivisions,which

13 washeldunconstitutionalin Ruiz Hull, 957 P.2d984 Ariz. 1998. The English-only

14 arnendrnenthanrned the ability of both Hispanic and Native Arnerican citizens to

15 participatein thepolitical process.Id. at 997.

16 97. Latinos faced both de june and de facto segregationin education

17 throughoutthetwentiethcentury. [Id. at 356:18-357:14]

18 98. Latinos also faced discrirnination in ernployrnentthroughout the

19 twentiethcenturyup to thepresentday. [Id. at 359:22-362:3]

20 99. Arizona’s funding for educationof studentswith lirnited English

21 proficiency is insufficient to cornply with federal law. SeeFlores v. Arizona, 172 F.

22 Supp.2d 1225, 1239 D. Aniz. 2000. Despitethepassageof eight yearsanda conternpt

23 Order,the State still hasnot cornpliedwith theDistrict Court’s Orderto adequatelyfund

24 lirnited English proficiency education. SeeFlores v. Arizona, 480 F. Supp. 2d 1157,

25 1167 D. Aniz. 2007, affIrmed 516 F.3d 1140 9th Cm. 2008; [see also Trial Tn. at

26 358:15-359:18]

27 100. Native Arnericans did not earn the night to vote in Arizona until

28 1948. [Trial Tn. at 445:19-446:5citing Harrison v. Laveen,196 P.2d456 Ariz. 1948;
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1 Ex. 1190, 1192] The history of discrirninationagainstNative Arnericanvoters is well

2 docurnentedin court opinions. E.g., Arizonansfor Fair Representationv. Symington,

3 828 F.Supp. 684 D.Aniz. 1992 invalidating redistrictingplans approvedby Arizona

4 Legislaturefor discrirninationagainstNative Arnericans and Hispanics; Goddard v.

S Babbitt, 536 F. Supp. 538, 543 D. Aniz. 1982 stipulatednernedy for rnalapportioned

6 congressionalredistricting united San Canlos Apache Reservationinto one district;

7 Goodluckv. ApacheCounty,417 F. Supp. 13 D. Ariz. 1975 invalidating supenvisorial

8 districts that discrirninatedagainstNavajo citizens; Klahr Williams, 339 F. Supp.

9 922, 927 D. Aniz. 1972 striking down redistricting plan that intentionally

10 discrirninatedagainstthe Navajo Nation; United Statesv. Ariz., No. 88-1989-PHX-

11 EHC D. Aniz. consentdecreessettling Indian-languageclairns under the Voting

12 Rights Act for Navajo andApache Counties;Shirleyv. SuperiorCourt, 513 P.2d 939

13 Aniz. 1973 reversing injunction that wrongfully prohibited duly elected Native

14 Arnericancandidatefrorn taking office.

15 101. Hispanicindividuals are less likely thanAnglo individuals to have

16 bank accounts. As such,Hispanicvoters are fan less likely to possessa bank staternent

17 to useaspolling placeidentification. [7/31/06OsborneDep. at 78:3-78:12]

18 102. Arnong all householdsin Arizona in 2000, 7.4 percent had no

19 vehicleavailable. Arnong white householdsthe ratewas 5.6 percentwithout a vehicle,

20 while Hispanic and Indian householdshad rates of 11.2 percent and 20.3 percent,

21 respectively. [ITCA Ex. 1198] Of 62,750 Arnerican Indian householdsin Arizona,

22 12,730 haveno accessto a vehicle. [Id. at 74] Of 62,547 Indian workersage 16 and

23 olden, 4,804 walked on used other rneans of transportationnot can, truck, public

24 transportation,rnotoncycleon bicycle to travel to work. LId. at 69] Those without

25 vehiclesare less likely to possessfonrns of Registrationon Polling ID suchas driven’s

26 licenses,vehicle registrationson vehicle insurancecards. Moreover, they face greaten

27 difficulty traveling to obtain suchdocurnentson to early voting on ID verification sites.

28 [Trial Tn. at 457:25-458:3,459:10-20]
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1 103. Arnongthose 18 andoven in Arizona, in 2000, 7.6 percenthadnot

2 cornpletedninth grade. The rate was 2.3 percentfor the white population, while the

3 rates were 24.4 percent and 30.2 percent for the Hispanic and Indian populations,

4 respectively. [Trial Tn. at 461:3-8;Ex. 1197-98;Ex. 862, Table6a, 6b]

5 104. 13.9 percent of Arizona residentslived below the poverty line in

6 2000. The ratefor thewhite populationwas7.8 percent,while the ratefor theHispanic

7 and Indian populationwere 24.5 percent and 38 percent, respectively. [Trial Tn. at

8 461:9-14;Ex. 1197-98]

9 105. In 2000, the rnedian householdincorne for all Anizonans was

10 $40,388. The rnedianincornefor white householdswas $43,913,while for Hispanicand

11 Indian households,the rnedianswere $3 1,419 and $23,709,respectively. [Trial Tn. at

12 461:15-21; Ex. 862, Table 7; Ex. 1197]

13 106. U.S.-bornHispanicsin Arizona lag fan behindwhite non-Hispanics

14 in voterregistrationandvoting. [Ex. 862, Table 8]

15 107. The existenceof racially polarizedvoting rneansthat newelection

16 laws with a racial disparity in irnpactwill dilute rninority voting strength. [Trial Tn. at

17 129:4-7]

18 108. Analysis of datafrorn electionsin 2002, 2004 and2006 showsthat

19 Arizonahasracially-polarizedvoting. Latino votershavebeencohesivein their support

20 for Latino candidates. [Id. at 116:23-117:9,Ex. 866, at 7] Only in the caseof U.S.

21 HouseincurnbentsEd PastorandRaulGijalva havenon-Latinosprovideda rnajority of

22 their votes. [Trial Tn. at 121: 11-122:13] In particular, arnongthe electionsoutsideof

23 rnajority-Hispanicdistricts, non-Latinovotersdo not preferLatino candidates.[Trial Tn.

24 at 121:15-19]

25 109. Therehasbeena statistically significantdecreasein the nurnbenof

26 HispanicArizonansregisteringto vote since Proposition200’s registrationnequinernent

27 becarneeffective. [Id. at 43 1:2-8; Def’s Irnp. Ex. 2, Table 1] This representsa greaten

28
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1 percentagedropin registrationratethanoccurredfor non-Hispanics. [Trial Tn. at 263:8-

2 21, 431:15-432:1,433:4-7;Def’slrnp. Ex. 2, Table 3]

3 110. Hispanicregistrantswere less likely thannon-Hispanicregistrants

4 to successfullyregisterto vote after having a voter registrationapplicationdenied for

S failure to provide Registration ID. [Trial Tn. at 243:17-244:5; Ex. 883, Table 2]

6 Hispanic registrantsconstituted 19.8 percent of rejected applicantswho have not

7 successfullyregistered,while they are only 11 percent of thosewho were ultirnately

8 successfulin registeringafterbeingrejected. [Id.]

9 111. Hispanics as reflected by Spanish-sunnarnedapplicants,

10 cornprised13.8 percentof the overall voterregistrationapplicantsafterJanuary1, 2005.

11 [Ex.883, Table 5] However, Hispanics cornpriseda disproportionatelylarge share -

12 16.7 percent - of the rejected applicants, and Hispanics were an even rnone

13 disproportionateshare- 19.8 percent- of therejectedapplicantswho did not eventually

14 go on to register. [Id.]

15 112. Both Hispanicsandnon-Hispanicswhich categoryincludesNative

16 Arnericans have experienceddecreasedlevels of registration post-Proposition200,

17 althoughHispanicswere disproportionatelyaffected. [Trial Tn. at 43 1:1-432:1; Def’s

18 Irnp. Ex. 2, Table 3] The Latino share of new voter registrationshad declined

19 significantly in threecountiessincethe irnplernentationof Proposition200. [Trial Tn. at

20 384:10-385:15;Ex. 874, Figure2]

21 CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

22 A. Jurisdiction

23 1. This casearises under the Constitution, laws, on treaties of the

24 UnitedStates.

25 2. This Court has subjectrnattenjurisdiction oven this actionunder28

26 U.S.C. § 1331, 1343a3-4, 1361 and 1367a and 42 U.S.C. § 1971d, 1973j1

27 and 1983.

28
- 26 -



1 3. This Court hasjurisdiction to grantboth declaratoryandinjunctive

2 reliefunder28 U.S.C. § 2201 and2202.

3 4. Venueis properin this Courtunder28 U.S.C. § 1391b.

4 B. Standing

5 5. Standinginvolves "both constitutional lirnitations on federal-court

6 jurisdiction andprudentiallirnitations on its exercise." Kowalski v. Tesmer,543 U.S.

7 125, 128-29 2004; Wart/i Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 498 1975. The elernentsof

8 standingare indispensableto a plaintiff’s caseand rnust be supportedat eachstageof

9 the litigation just as any other essentialelernentof a case. Warren Fox Family

10 Worldwide, Inc., 328 F.3d 1136, 1140 9th Cm. 2003.

11 6. The constitutional aspect of standing for an individual plaintiff

12 inquires whetherthe plaintiff hasrnadeout a caseon controversybetweenhirnself and

13 the defendantwithin the rneaningof Article III by dernonstratinga sufficient personal

14 stakein the outcorne.Warth, 422 U.S. at 498. The constitutionalnequinernentsare for a

15 litigant to allege "1 a threatenedon actualdistinct andpalpableinjury to [hirnself]; 2

16 a fairly traceablecausalconnectionbetweenthe allegedinjury andthe . . . challenged

17 conduct;and3 a substantiallikelihood that therequestedreliefwill rednesson prevent

18 the injury." Hong Kong Supermarketv. Kizer, 830 F.2d 1078, 1081 9th Cm. 1987

19 citationsornitted. Proofof the requiredinjury requiresa showing of "an invasionof a

20 legally protectedinterest"that "affect[s] theplaintiff in apersonalandindividual way."

21 Lujan v. Defendersof Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 1992. The prudential aspectof

22 standingconcernsthe groundsa plaintiff rnay put forward in seekingto vindicatehis

23 personalstake. Wart/i, 422 U.S. at 499.

24 7. The potential lossof an electionis an injury in fact for a candidate.

25 Oii’en Mulligan, 640 F.2d 1130, 1132-339th Cm. 1981.

26 8. An organizationhas standingto sue in its own night by showing

27 harrnto its ability to achieveits organizationalobjectivesandby a drain on its resources.

28 HavensRealtyCorp. V. Coleman,455 U.S. 363 1982. An organizationrnay satisfythe
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1 Article III nequinernentof injury in fact if it can dernonstrate:1 frustration of its

2 organizationalrnission; and 2 diversion of its resourcesto cornbat the particular

3 housing discrirninationin question. Smithv. Pac. Properties& Dcv. Corp., 358 F.3d

4 1097, 1105 9th Cm. 2004 citing Fair Housingof Mann v. Combs,285 F.3d 899, 905

5 9th Cm. 2002; El RescateLegal Services,Inc. v. Executive Office of Immigration

6 Review,959 F.2d 742, 745 9th Cm. 1991 concerningrefugeeassistanceorganization;

7 seealso CrawfOrd, 128 5. Ct. at 1615 n.7 "We also agreewith the unanirnousview of

8 those [Court of Appeals] judgesthat the Dernocratshave standing to challengethe

9 validity of SEA 483." citing Crawford v. Marion CountyElectionBd., 472 F.3d 949,

10 952 7th Cm. 2007 "the law rnay require the Dernocratic Panty and the other

11 organizationalplaintiffs to work hardento get eveiy last one of their supportersto the

12 polls.".

13 9. Underthe doctrineof "associational"on "representational"standing

14 an organizationrnay bring suit on behalfof its rnernbenswhetheron not the organization

15 itself has suffered an injury frorn the challengedaction. Hunt v. Wash. State Apple

16 Adver. Comm‘n, 432 U.S. 333, 342-441977. To dernonstrateassociationalstanding,

17 the entity rnust show that 1 at leastone of its rnernbens would have standingto sue in

18 his own night, 2 the interests the suit seeks to vindicate are genrnane to the

19 organization’s purpose, and 3 neither the clairn assertednon the relief requested

20 requires the participation of individual rnernbens in the lawsuit. United Food &

21 CommercialWorkersUnion Local 75] v. Brown Group, Inc., 517 U.S. 544, 553 1996

22 citing Hunt, 432 U.S. at 343. Organizationsarenot requiredto showspecific instances

23 of injury to their rnernbenswhere it is otherwise clean that their rnernbenswould be

24 adverselyaffected. CalifOrnia Rural LegalAssistance,Inc. v. Legal ServicesCorp., 917

25 F.2d 1171, 1174-59th Cm. 1990. SeePennellv. City of SanJose,485 U.S. 1, 7 1988

26 "The likelihood of enfoncernent,with the concornitantprobability that a landlord’s rent

27 will be reducedbelow what he on she would otherwisebe able to obtain in the absence

28 of the Ordinance,is a sufficient threat of actual injury to satisfy Art. III’s nequinernent
- 28 -



1 that ‘[a] plaintiff who challengesa statute rnust dernonstratea realistic danger of

2 sustainingadirect injury asa resultofthe statute’soperationon enfoncernent."quoting

3 Babbitt v. Farm Workers, 422 U. 5. 289, 298 1979; see also SanduskyCounty

4 DemocraticParty v. Blackwell, 387 F.3d565, 574 6th Cm. 2004 "Appelleeshavenot

5 identified specific voterswho will seekto vote at a polling place that will be deerned

6 wrong by electionworkers, but this is understandable;by their nature, rnistakescannot

7 be specifically identified in advance.Thus, a voter cannotknow in advancethat his on

8 hen narnewill be droppedfrorn the rolls, on listed in an incorrectprecinct, on listed

9 correctly but subjectto a hurnanerror by an electionworker who rnistakenlybelieves

10 thevoter is at the wrong polling place. It is inevitable,however, that therewill be such

11 rnistakes.The issuesAppelleesraise are not speculativeon nernote; they are real and

12 irnrninent.".

13 10. Plaintiffs AzAN and ITCA have associationaland organizational

14 standing. Plaintiff LWV has organizational standing. Plaintiff Steve Gallando has

15 standing as a Mexican-Arnericancitizen and candidate. The Court neednot decide

16 whetherthenernainingplaintiffs, the Hopi Tribe andLULAC, haveestablishedstanding

17 becausean action involving rnultiple plaintiffs rnay go forward if at leastone plaintiff

18 hasstanding. SeeHarris v. Bd. Of Supervisors,LosAngelesCounty,366 F.3d754, 761

19 9th Cm. 2004 citing Pub. Citizen v. Dep’t of Transp., 316 F.3d 1002, 1014-159th Cm.

20 2003; Watt v. Energy Action Educ. Found., 454 U.S. 151, 160 1981; see also

21 Crawfbrdv. Marion CountyElectionBd., 128 5. Ct. 1610, 1615 n.7 2008 finding "no

22 needto decidewhetherthe other petitionersalso have standing"after finding standing

23 for DernocraticPanty.

24 C. Equal Protection Claims

25 11. The EqualProtectionClauseof the FourteenthArnendrnentprotects

26 thefundarnentalnight to vote frorn undueburdenby States. The basic analysisfor such

27 clairns is set forth in Burdick v. Takushi, 504 U.S. 428 1992. Under Burdick the

28 assertedinjury to the night to vote rnustbe weighedagainstthe State’sjustifications for
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1 the burden irnposed. Id. at 434. Electoralpracticesthat severelyburden the night to

2 voteare subjectto strict scrutiny. Id.; Normanv. Reed,502 U.S. 279, 288-891992.

3 12. In CrawfOrd, the SuprerneCourt reiteratedthat Burdick did not

4 lirnit equalprotectionreview only to severeburdens:

In neither Norman non Burdick did we identify any litrnus test for
rneasurinthe severityof a burdenthat a statelaw irnposeson a political

6 panty,an individual voter, on a discreteclassof voters. Howeverslight that
burden rnay appear, as Harper dernonstrates,it rnust be justified by

7 relevantand legitirnate state interests"sufficiently weighty to justify the
lirnitation."

8 128 5. Ct. at 1616. Courts rnust identify and evaluatethe interestsput forward by the

State asjustifications for the burdenirnposedby challengedelectionrules. Andersonv.

10 Celebrezze,460 U.S. 780 1983.

11 13. Stateshave a generalinterest in preventingvote fraud that canbe

12 sufficient to defeat a pre-enfoncernentfacial challenge to an election-day photo ID

13 nequinernentthatprovidesfor no-costexceptions.CrawfOrd, 128 5. Ct. at 162 1-22.

14 14. Preconditionsto voting are invidious, even if they are national, if

15 they are irrelevant to voters’ qualifications. CrawfOrd v. Marion CountyElection Bd.,

16 128 5. Ct. at 1616; Harper Virginia Bd. of Elections,383 U.S. 663 1966.

17 15. The RegistrationID nequinernentis a substantialburdenon thenight

18 to vote. Relevantevidenceof that burdencornesnot only frorn thenurnbenof rejected

19 voterregistrationapplications,but also frorn the increased- in sorne casesprohibitive -

20 costs of conducting voter registration carnpaigns as a direct consequenceof that

21 nequinernent.

22 16. The substantialburden indicatedby the nurnbenof rejectedvoter

23 registrationapplicationsdirectly attributable to Proposition 200 - at least 31,000 -

24 requiresheightenedscrutinyunderBurdick v. TakushiandCrawfOrd v. Marion County

25 Bd. Elections.

26 17. The RegistrationID nequinernentis invidious becauseits relevance

27 to the State’s assertedinterest in preventing registration by non-citizens is tenuous.

28
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1 RegistrationID fails to unifonrnly establishthe citizenshipof applicants. The principal

2 rneansof satisfyingthe "satisfactoryevidenceof citizenship" nequinernent- via drivers

3 license - does not establishthat individuals in fact are citizens and thereforeis not

4 relevantto the questionof citizenship.

5 18. The State hasno legitirnate interestin preventingvoterregistration

6 by eligible andqualified citizens who rnenelylack RegistrationID. The State’sgeneral

7 interestin preventingvoter registrationby non-citizensandthe handfulof docurnented

8 instancesin which non-citizensregisteredto vote do not outweighthe burden irnposed

9 by theRegistrationID nequinernent.

10 19. The RegistrationID nequinernentis a severeburdenon the night to

11 vote as applied to those qualified individuals who through no fault of their own are

12 unable to register to vote becauseit is not possible for thern to obtain sufficient

13 docurnentaryevidence of citizenship. The fact that no free alternative is available

14 further enhancesthe burden. SeeCrawford, at 1620-21 noting that absenta no-cost

15 alternativetheIndianaphoto ID law would fail underHarper.

16 20. The Polling ID nequinernentis a substantialburdenon the night to

17 vote. Relevantevidenceof the burdencornesnot only frorn the nurnbenof uncounted

18 conditional provisional ballots, but also frorn the travel burden on conditional

19 provisionalvoters, frorn polling place confusiondue to poll workerswho are unableto

20 correctly applythenequinernent,andfrorn the fact thatadequateno-costidentification is

21 notrequiredto be rnadeavailableto voters.

22 21. The substantialburden indicated by the nurnben of uncounted

23 conditionalprovisional ballotsdirectly attributableto Proposition200 - nearly 4,200 -

24 requiresheightenedscrutinyunderBurdick v. TakushiandCrawford v. Marion County

25 Bd. Elections.

26 22. The Statehasno legitirnateinterestin preventingvoting by eligible

27 andqualified registeredvoterswho rnenelylack particularfonrns of identification. The

28 State’s generalinterest in preventingvoter irnpensonationfraud doesnot outweigh the
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1 burdenimposedby the Polling ID requirement,in particulardue to the absenceof any

2 documentedinstanceofvoterimpersonationfraud in Arizona.

3 D. Section 2 ofthe Voting Rights Act

4 23. Section2 of theVoting RightsAct of 1965 provides:

a No voting qualification or prerequisiteto voting or standard,practice,
6 or procedure shall be imposed or applied by any State or political

subdivision in a mannerwhich resultsin a denial or abridgementof the
7 right of anycitizen ofthe UnitedStatesto vote on accountof raceor color,

8 or in contraventionof the guaranteesset forth in section 1973bf2 of
this title, asprovidedin subsectionb of this section.

9

10
b A violation of subsectiona of this sectionis establishedif, basedon
the totality of circumstances,it is shown that the political processes

11 leadingto nominationor election in the State or political subdivisionare
not equally open to participation by members of a class of citizens

12 protectedby subsectiona of this section in that its membershave less

13 opportunity than other membersof the electorateto participatein the
political processandto elect representativesof their choice. The extentto

14 whichmembersof aprotectedclasshavebeenelectedto office in the State
or political subdivisionis one circumstancewhich may be considered:

15 Provided,Thatnothingin this sectionestablishesa right to have members
16 of a protectedclass electedin numbersequal to their proportion in the

population.
17

42 U.S.C. § 1973.
18

24. The 1982 SenateReport identifiedthe following factors as relevant
19

to the "results" analysisunder amended§ 2: 1 the extent of any histoiy of official
20

discriminationin the stateor political subdivisionthat touchedthe right of themembers
21

of the minority group to register, to vote, or otherwiseto participatein the democratic
22

process,2 the extent to which voting in the elections of the state or political
23

subdivisionis racially polarized,3 theextentto which the stateor political subdivision
24

hasusedunusuallylarge election districts, majority vote requirements,anti-single shot
25

provisions,or othervoting practicesor proceduresthatmay enhancethe opportunityfor
26

discriminationagainstthe minority group, 4 if there is a candidateslating process,
27

whetherthe membersof the minority group havebeendeniedaccessto that process,5
28
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1 the extent to which rnernbensof the rninority group in the stateon political subdivision

2 beanthe effects of discrirninationin suchareasas education,ernployrnentand health,

3 which hinder their ability to participateeffectively in the political process,6 whether

4 political carnpaignshavebeencharacterizedby overt on subtleracial appeals,and7 the

S extentto which rnernbensof therninority group havebeenelectedto public office in the

6 jurisdiction. Additional factors e whether there is a significant lack of

7 responsivenesson the part of electedofficials to theparticularizedneedof thernernbens

8 of the rninority group; whetherthepolicy underlyingthe stateon political subdivision’s

9 use of such voting qualification, prerequisite to voting, on standard, practice, on

10 procedureis tenuous. Smithv. SaltRiver ProjectAgr. Imp. and Power Dist., 109 F.3d

11 586, 594 n.6 9th Cm. 1997 "Salt River" citing S. Rep. No. 97-417, 97th Cong., 2d

12 Sess.1982,reprintedin 1982U.S.C.C.A.N. 177, 206-07.

13 25. A Section2 clairn baseduponthe denialof thenight to vote focuses

14 on whethera causalconnectionexistsbetweenthediscrirninatonyirnpact of achallenged

15 voting practice and racial discrirnination in the surrounding social and historical

16 cincurnstances. "[S]ection 2 plaintiffs rnust show a causal connectionbetweenthe

17 challengedvoting practiceand[a] prohibiteddiscrirninatonyresult." Smith, 109 F.3d at

18 595 citing Ortiz v. City of Philadelphia Office of the City Comm’rs, 28 F.3d 306, 312

19 3d Cm. 1994. "[U]nden SaltRiverandconsistentwith both Congressionalintent and

20 well-establishedjudicial precedent,a causal connection rnay be shown where the

21 discrirninatony irnpact of a challenged voting practice is attributable to racial

22 discrirninationin the surroundingsocial and historical cincurnstances."Farrakhan v.

23 Washington, 338 F.3d 1009, 1019 9th Cm. 2003; see Mississippi State Chapter,

24 OperationPush, Inc. v. Mabus,932F.2d400 5th Cm. 1991.

25 26. CongressarnendedSection 2 in 1982 with the expresspurposeof

26 clarifying that discrirninatoryintent was not requiredto establisha Section 2 violation.

27 Farrakhan, 338 F.3d at 1016 n.10. "Section2 requiresproof only of a discrirninatory

28 result, not of discrirninatonyintent." SaltRiver, 109F.3dat 594.
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1 27. A history of official discrirninationin Arizona againstHispanicand

2 Indian citizens touching upon their night to vote, a patternof racially polarizedvoting

3 and significant socioeconornicdisparities betweenwhite citizens and Hispanic and

4 Indian citizenscornbineto rnakethe RegistrationID nequinernentdiscrirninatonyagainst

5 Indian and Hispanic citizens. The policy justification for the Registration ID

6 nequinernentis tenuous. Under the totality of the cincurnstancesthe RegistrationID

7 nequinernentviolatesSection2 ofthe Voting Rights Act.

8 28. A history of official discrirnination in Arizona againstHispanic

9 citizens touching upon their night to vote, a pattern of racially polarizedvoting and

10 significant socioeconornicdisparities betweenwhite citizens and Hispanic citizens

11 cornbine to rnake the election-day Polling ID nequinernentdiscrirninatony against

12 Hispaniccitizens. The policy justification for the election-dayPolling ID nequinernentis

13 tenuous. Under the totality of the cincurnstancesthe election-day Polling ID

14 nequinernentviolatesSection2 ofthe Voting Rights Act.

15 E. Relief

16 29. The ITCA Plaintiffs areentitled to a declaratoryjudgrnentpursuant

17 to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 declaringthat A.R.S. § 16-152, 16-166, 16-579asarnendedby the

18 Arizona Taxpayer and Citizen Protection Act, is unconstitutionalunder the Equal

19 ProtectionClauseof the FourteenthArnendrnent:a on its face as anundueburdenon

20 voterregistration,b on its faceasit constitutesanundueburdenon in-personvoting on

21 election day, c as applied to qualified citizens who lack the required proof of

22 citizenship, and d as applied to registered voters who lack the required voter

23 identificationon electionday.

24 30. The ITCA Plaintiffs areentitled to a declaratoryjudgrnentpursuant

25 to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 declaringthat A.R.S. § 16-152, 16-166, 16-579asarnendedby the

26 Arizona Taxpayerand Citizen ProtectionAct, denies on abridgesthe night to vote of

27 Hispaniccitizenson accountof race,colon on rnernbenshipin a languagerninority group

28 in violation of Section2 of theVoting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. 1973a.
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1 31. The ITCA Plaintiffs areentitled to adeclaratoryjudgrnentpursuant

2 to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 declaringthatA.R.S. § 16-152, 16-166, 16-579asarnendedby the

3 Arizona Taxpayerand Citizen ProtectionAct, denies on abridgesthe night to vote of

4 Arnerican Indian citizens on account of race, colon on rnernbenshipin a language

S rninority groupin violation of Section2 of theVoting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. 1973a.

6 32. The ITCA Plaintiffs are entitled to an injunction prohibiting the

7 enfoncernentof the Arizona Taxpayer and Citizen Protection Act with regard to

8 RegistrationID, on in the alternative,an injunctionrequiringtheDefendantsto providea

9 procedurefor qualified citizens to registerto vote if they are unable with reasonable

10 effort to obtain"satisfactoryevidenceof citizenship"asdefinedin the ArizonaTaxpayer

11 andCitizen ProtectionAct.

12 33. The ITCA Plaintiffs are entitled to an injunction prohibiting the

13 enfoncernentof theArizonaTaxpayerandCitizen ProtectionAct with regardto election-

14 day voter identification, on in the alternative,an injunction requiringthe Defendantsto

15 provideaprocedurefor registeredvotersto castballots in personon electiondayandto

16 have thoseballots countedif they are unableto provide identification pursuantto the

17 ArizonaTaxpayerandCitizen ProtectionAct.
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